BRIEF OF APPELLANT
THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
R. Lawton McIntosh

Case No. 2018 - 000637

John Dalen, Appellant

v.

The State, Respondent

RECEIVED
JUN 13 2018
SC Court of Appeals

INITIAL BRIEF

Appeal from final judgment of Appeal
of John Dalen vs. State of South Carolina by
R. Lawton McIntosh from Oconee County Court of Common Pleas
affirming magistrate judgment and denial of reconsideration

John D. Dalen
109 Wood Valley Drive
Westminster, SC 29693
Phone: 864.647.4705
Appearing Pro Per/Appellant

Attorney for Respondent, The State:

Bethany Ann Blundy
Assistant Solicitor
415 S. Pine Street
Walhalla, SC 29691

Statement of Issues on Appeal

1. Was it error for the Magistrate Court to proceed where jurisdiction has been challenged and not been proven on the record, and therefore also error by the Circuit Court Appellate Judge R. Lawton McIntosh in affirming the Magistrate Court decision?
2. Was it error for both The Magistrate Court and the Circuit Court Appellate Judge R. Lawton McIntosh to ignore the Constitutional challenge to the statute and its application in question as it was applied to John Dalen, failing to protect the constitutional rights of the appellate, John Dalen.
3. Did the proceedings of both the Magistrate Court and the Circuit Court Judge R. Lawton McIntosh violate Due Process of law protections secured by the U.S. Constitution and the Common Law?
4. Did the Magistrate Court and the Circuit Court proceedings violate the religious freedom protections secured by the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution?

Statement of the Case

This is an appeal from an appeal to the South Carolina Court of Common Pleas which was filed August 22, 2017, [*See item "N. (1)" from the Designation of Matter*], challenging a decision by the Magistrate Court in the City of Westminster, SC. John Dalen did appear for trial on August 17, 2017, and was found guilty by a jury of only six [*See item "N.(2)(i)" from the Designation of Matter*], although according to the Common Law, juries shall consist of 12 members of the community. John Dalen paid a fine of \$237.45.

From the beginning, starting with an arrest on February 16, 2017, and the issuance of a traffic ticket/citation, (*See item "A" of the Designation of Matter*), John Dalen challenged the arrest and issuance of the ticket and subsequent proceedings in the Magistrate Court. John Dalen objected to those proceedings repeatedly (*See the Designation of Matter items "B" and "C", Transcript of Hearing of April 19, 2017, p. 4: 14-25; p. 5: 1-25; p. 6: 1-16; p. 9: 10-11, items "E", "G", and "H", Transcript of Hearing of June 13, 2017, p. 4: 21-25; p. 5: 1-10; p. 5: 14-25, and items "T" and "J", Transcript of Hearing of June 28, 2017, p. 5: 18-22; p. 6: 1-21; p. 7: 22-25, and items "K", and "L", and in Transcript of Jury Trial held August 17, 2017, p. 5: 1-25; p. 30: 10-13*). The accused challenged the officer's probable cause and the court's jurisdiction, and demanded his rights secured by the U.S. Constitution and the Common Law (*See transcripts: items "C", "H", "J", and "L" from the Designation of Matter*) (*See also motions: items "B", "E", "G", "T", and "K" from the Designation of Matter*).

The magistrate judge, the Honorable Will F. Derrick, issued an order dated April 21, 2017, (*See item "D" from the Designation of Matter*) denying John Dalen's Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction, claiming jurisdiction without proving it on the record. John Dalen filed a Motion to Reconsider on May 22, 2017, (*See item "E" from the Designation of Matter*) and the magistrate filed an order dated June 13, 2017, (*See item "F" from the Designation of Matter*) denying John Dalen's Motion to Reconsider. John Dalen then filed a motion dated June 28, 2017, **Challenging the Constitutionality of the Application of the SC Motor Vehicle "Transportation" Statutes Against the Accused**, as applied to John Dalen (*See item "I" from the Designation of Matter*). No order was issued regarding this motion, nor was any discussion held regarding the contents. (*See the Designation of Matter, Transcript of Hearing of June 28, 2017, item "J", p. 6: 8-21; p. 7: 19-23; p. 8: 3-4.*)

On July 11, 2017, John Dalen filed a Motion for Offer of Plea (*See item "K" from the Designation of Matter*). John Dalen had repeatedly objected to the court's entering of a plea for the accused. No order was issued regarding this motion; the motion was dismissed by the magistrate at the jury trial held August 17, 2017, and the magistrate entered a plea of "not guilty" over the objections of the accused. (*See the Transcript of Proceedings Jury Trial held August 17, 2017, item "L", p. 8: 10-11; p. 18: 5-6 from the Designation of Matter.*) The accused presented exhibits at the jury trial [*See item "M" from the Designation of Matter, items (1) through (7)*] that were intended to prove that there was no willful intent to violate any law and that defendant had more than ample reason to believe his contentions are/were correct,

supported by law and by the Supreme Court of the United States as well as by lower court decisions and other authorities (*See Table of Contents listed cases and authorities, incl. Law Dictionary definitions*). The trial judge, the Hon. Will F. Derrick did not inform the jury that every element of the “crime” had to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Designation of Matter, item “L”, Transcript of Proceedings Jury Trial held August 17, 2017, p. 53: 8-25; p. 54: 1-25; p. 55: 1-25; p. 56: 1-25; and p. 57: 1-25.* John Dalen was convicted at the trial. The accused was threatened with thirty days in jail or the payment of a fine of \$237.45, (incl. \$5 for debit card fee) and was told he had to pay the fine before he could file an appeal.

On August 22, 2017, John Dalen filed an appeal with the Circuit Court (*See item “N. (1)” from the Designation of Matter*), John Dalen filed exhibits [*See items “N. (2)(a) through (j)” from the Designation of Matter*]. This appeal was denied, and the magistrate affirmed on March 1, 2018 (*See item “P” from the Designation of Matter*). John Dalen then filed an Affidavit (*See item “Q” from the Designation of Matter*), and Motion for New Trial and/or Amendment of Judgment (*See item “R” from the Designation of Matter*) and a Motion for Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law (*See item “S” from the Designation of Matter*). Items “Q”, “R”, and “S” of the Designation of Matter were filed on March 12, 2018.

Circuit Court Judge R. Lawton McIntosh issued an order (*See item “T” from the Designation of Matter*) denying the Motion for New Trial and/or Amended Judgment on March 21, 2018, and the judge issued no order or addressed in any way

the Motion for Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law (*See item "S" from the Designation of Matter*).

Standard of Review for Each Issue

The standard of review for issues 1, 2, 3 and 4 is de novo as such are errors of law. *U.S. v. Campa*, 529 F. 3d 980, 992 (11th Cir. 2008).

Argument

The saying that "ignorance of the law is no excuse" applied well to the Common Law because Common Law is limited in scope, and easily comprehended by the common man. It is necessary for citizens to know what the law is and what a person's duty is under that law. I, John Dalen, plan to show that I was convicted through the use of laws, codes, regulations, and court proceedings that are not consistent with our United States Constitution or in compliance with Common Law.

The idea that "ignorance is no excuse" is no longer valid or applicable today. Even the most learned scholar could not be expected to understand and comply with our voluminous laws, codes, and regulations. This is inconsistent with the United States Constitution. Today there are plenty of excuses for ignorance of the law.

Common Law is the foundation of the United States system of laws, and the purpose of law is to protect persons, property, and liberty. Government and its courts were created by the people for this express reason. The U.S. Constitution is the Supreme Law of the Land, and it was created to bind the government and limit the scope of its authority. It is the duty [*See Municipal Court Handbook, Designation of Matter "N. (j)"*] of every judicial officer and every citizen to help to ensure that every law is in compliance and not in conflict with the constitution. This concept is repeated over and over by the U.S. Supreme Court in rulings dating back to the founding of this nation. It is the only way that a free people can remain free. The Constitution is the Supreme Law of the Land. See *Marbury v. Madison*, 5 U.S. 137 and *16 Am. Jur. 2d*, Sec. 177 late 2d, Sec. 256; "No one is bound to obey an unconstitutional law, and no courts are bound to enforce it."

The arguments for each of the issues #1, #2, #3, and #4 tend to overlap. In my discussion for each issue, the arguments presented may apply to each of the other issues as well.

Issue #1:

Was it error for the Magistrate Court to proceed where jurisdiction has been challenged and not been proven on the record, and therefore also error by Circuit Court Appellate Judge R. Lawton McIntosh in affirming the Magistrate Court decision? I make the following arguments:

A. Probable Cause, Valid Charging Instrument and Elements of a Crime

B. Conversion of a Right to a Privilege

Issue #1, Augument A.

Probable Cause, Valid Charging Instrument and Elements of a Crime

From the beginning, starting with the traffic stop at a checkpoint – a checkpoint which in itself is antithetical to any concept of freedom – I, the appellant, John Dalen challenged the officer’s probable cause which was never stated nor proven on the record. (*See item “A” from the Designation of Matter.*) The officer (named on the ticket as A. Taylor) did not provide the court with any proof of his probable cause that a crime had been committed, justifying his arrest of John Dalen or providing proof that he had any jurisdiction to make such an arrest. (*See McNutt v. GMAC*, 298 US 178, “The burden of proof lies with the asserter.”)

The Magistrate Court judge, the Honorable Will F. Derrick, as well as the officer in charge of the checkpoint, throughout all the proceedings failed to prove subject matter jurisdiction and/or personal jurisdiction on the record, and only presumed jurisdiction in this matter. The citation itself, the “charging instrument” (*See item “A” from the Designation of Matter*) is deficient because it was not supported by probable cause or a warrant as is required under the Common Law. (*See Hale vs. Hinkel*, 201 US 43, 74 – 75, “Among his Rights are...immunity of an individual and his property from arrest or seizure except under warrant of law.” See

Bacahanan vs. Wanley, 245 US 60, “The police power of the state must be exercised in subordination to the provisions of the U.S. Constitution.” See *Connolly vs. Union Sewer Pipe Co.*, 184 US 540, “With regard particularly to the U.S. Constitution, it is elementary that a Right secured or protected by that document cannot be overthrown or impaired by any state police authority.” See also *The Fourth Amendment* to the *United States Constitution*.

Both the Magistrate Court and the Court of Common Pleas in Oconee County, SC, are guilty of egregious error in their judicial determinations and opinions that directly violate the written laws of criminal procedure, while doing absolutely nothing to serve the ends of justice. (*See Designation of Matter items “D”, “F”, “J” Transcript of Hearing June 28, 2017 p. 6: 2-25; p. 7: 1-25; p. 8: 1-25; p. 9: 1-25; p. 10: 1-25; p. 11: 1-14; “L” Transcript of Proceedings Jury Trial of August 17, 2017, p. 5: 7-25; p. 6: 7-15; p. 20: 16-25, p. 21: 13-25; p. 22: 9-25; p. 24: 1-25; p. 25: 1-19; p. 26: 13-25; p. 27: 1-25; p. 28: 1-11; p. 30: 10-13; p. 32: 9-25; pgs. 33 through 44: 1-25; p. 48: 4-10; p. 49: 1-14 and 22-25; p. 50: 1-7; p. 51: 16-25; p. 52: 1-10 and 14-25, pgs. 53 through 57: 1-25; “O” Transcript of Appeal Hearing February 26, 2018, p. 11: 6-25; p. 12: 1-17; and items “P”, and “T”.*) These determinations and opinions arbitrarily act and serve to deny an accused individual of their right to due process (discussion to follow on Issue #3) and to a proper determination of probable cause in any criminal case initiated against them by warrantless seizures and arrests of persons or property. The accused has the right to have that determination made by a neutral

and detached magistrate who is acting in compliance with all the rules and processes of the Code of Criminal Procedure.

The issue of jurisdiction was discussed at length in my Notice to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction (*See item "B" of the Designation of Matter*), and is incorporated herein by reference to said document, and discussed as well in my Motion Challenging Constitutionality of the Application of the South Carolina Motor Vehicle "Transportation" Statutes Against the Accused (*See item "I" of the Designation of Matter*) which is incorporated herein by reference to said document. The only attempt by the judge to prove his jurisdiction is contained in the magistrate order for a motion to dismiss (*See item "D" of the Designation of Matter*) in which he cited *South Carolina Code of Laws Ann. Title 22, Magistrates and Constables*, Chapter 3, *Jurisdiction and Procedure in Magistrates' Courts*, Sec. 540, *Exclusive and Concurrent Jurisdiction*, Sec. 22-3-540, and also *South Carolina Code of Laws, Title 56, Motor Vehicles*, Chapter 1, Sec. 56-1-20.

Examination of *SC Code of Laws Ann. Title 22, Magistrates and Constables*, Chapter 3, Sec. 540, Sec. 22-3-540, explains "magistrates shall have exclusive jurisdiction of all criminal cases in which the punishment does not exceed a fine of \$100 or imprisonment of 30 days...." However, in order to have jurisdiction the judge must first have a criminal case, i.e. a valid "charging instrument" supported by probable cause and a warrant which he did not have, and therefore he did not have a

criminal case nor did he have jurisdiction because no “crime” had been committed or properly charged.

“The requirement of standing, however, has a core component derived directly from the Constitution. A plaintiff must allege personal injury fairly traceable to the defendant’s allegedly unlawful conduct and likely to be redressed by the requested relief.” *Allen v. Wright*, 468 U.S. 737, 751, (1984)

Referencing *Article III, Sec. 2* of the *United States Constitution*, which requires a plaintiff *to present a “case”* before a court may proceed: “The judicial power shall extend to all cases....”

Standing consists of two absolutely essential elements: 1) violation of a legal right, and 2) personal injury. With regard to the violation of a legal right: Has the *State of South Carolina* (a fiction) alleged that I violated the pretended “state’s rights”? And, a plaintiff must allege personal injury. Has the *State of South Carolina* (a fiction) alleged that I have caused a “personal injury”? The answer to these two questions is a resounding NO. (*See Designation of Matter item “A”*.) Therefore, there is no case. It follows that if there is no case, there cannot be any jurisdiction. *US v. Bishop*, 412 US 346: “Regarding criminal elements required to be proven – willfulness is one of the major elements defined as an “evil motive or intent to avoid a known duty...under the law.” Criminal elements, personal injury, and willfulness are covered also under Issue #3, page 30 of this brief.

Issue #1, Argument B. Conversion of a Right to a Privilege

South Carolina Code of Laws Title 56, Motor Vehicles, Chapter 1, Sec. 20 entitled *Driver's License Required...* states (in paragraph 2) that: "Any person holding a currently valid motor vehicle driver's license issued under this article may exercise the privilege thereby granted..." and "...license to exercise such privilege...." Neither of these two statutes proves the court's jurisdiction in this matter. There has been no proof that John Dalen was ever engaged in the activity known as "transportation." Furthermore, Sec. 56-1-20 proves the appellant's contention that either The State has attempted to convert a constitutionally-protected right into a privilege, or by this statute is in fact affirming that the statute applies only to persons engaged in commercial or for-hire activities. The former is unconstitutional, and the Magistrates' Court was repeatedly informed of this fact. (See *Chicago Motor Coach vs. Chicago*, 169 NE 22; *Ligare vs. Chicago*, 28 NE 934; *Boon vs. Clark*, 214 SSW 607: "The use of the highways for the purpose of travel and transportation is not a mere privilege, but a common and fundamental Right of which the public and the individual cannot be rightfully deprived." See also: *Murdock v. Pennsylvania*, 319 US 105 – The state may not convert a secured liberty into a privilege, and issue a license and fee for it. *Shuttlesworth v. Birmingham, Alabama*, 373 U.S. 262: "If the state does convert your right into a privilege and issue a license and charge a fee for it, you can ignore the license and fee and engage in the right with impunity." See also: *II Am. Jur. (1st)*

Constitutional Law, Sec. 329, p. 1135, concerning the Right of the citizen to travel on the public highways.

All judges and elected officials swear an oath to uphold and defend the Constitution of these United States. *U.S. Constitution, Article VI, Clause 2*, "The Constitution is the Supreme Law of the Land and judges in every state shall be bound thereby." I believe it is the duty of every American to hold them to their oath. Any laws not in conformance with that sacred document *should* be challenged. *16 Am. Jur. 2d, Sec. 177* late 2d, Sec. 256: "No one is bound to obey an unconstitutional law." The general misconception is that any statute passed by legislators bearing the appearance of law constitutes the law of the land. But the law is clear. As stated in *16 Am. Jur. 2d, Sec. 70* – No public policy of a state can be allowed to override the positive guarantees of the U.S. Constitution.

The statute under which I was charged clearly states that the license is granting a privilege. Americans have a Right to travel on public highways, and it is not a privilege, and therefore the statute in question can only be referring to commercial activities. For it to be otherwise would be unconstitutional in its application. Although The State may argue that the police powers give them the authority to regulate rights, according to the U.S. Supreme Court this regulation must be specific and narrow in its scope. See *Footnote 4* of the U. S. Supreme Court decision in *United States v. Carolene Products Co.* 304 U. S. 144 (1938), discussing

and introducing the Strict Scrutiny Standard which I will elaborate on later in this brief. The statute in question is anything but specific and narrow, and even so, the police powers do not give The State the authority to convert a Right into a privilege. Concerning the Right to travel: *16 Am. Jur. 2d*, Sec. 260, and *25 Am. Jur. (1st) Highways*, Sec. 260, discussing the requirement that regulations not violate constitutional guarantees. See also *25 Am. Jur. (1st) Highways*, Sec. 427, p. 717, which defines the terms travel and traveler.

No evidence was presented by the officer – the only representative of The State to appear at the trial other than the judge – that the accused, John Dalen, was engaged in any commercial or for-hire activities which would support the arrest of John Dalen and subsequent charge. No evidence was presented that the accused, John Dalen, was subject to the statute in question; it was merely presumed by both the officer and the magistrate. (*See Transcript of Proceedings Jury Trial, item “L”, p. 5: 23-24; p. 18: 1-5; p. 52: 15-25; p. 53: 1-6; and Return of the Criminal Appeal, item “N. (2)(i)”, pgs. 2-4 of the Designation of Matter.*) The accused has argued these points in his Notice to Dismiss, and Brief in Support of (*See item “B” of the Designation of Matter*) and is incorporated herein by reference to said document, as well as his Motion Challenging the Constitutionality of the Application of the SC Motor Vehicle “Transportation Statutes” Against the Accused (*See item “I” of the Designation of Matter*). This Motion discusses in more detail the issue of jurisdiction, and is incorporated herein by reference to said document, starting with item II,

Unconstitutional Executive and Judicial Expansion of Legislative Intent, Purpose and Scope of Legislation. [See: item "II" letter A. (1) through (5)]. These points were also raised in front of the Appellate Court judge in the Circuit Court in appealing the Magistrate decision. [See *Notice of Appeal and Attachment to the Appeal*, item "N. (1)" incorporated herein by reference to said document, and the transcript of the appeal hearing on Feb. 26, 2018, item "O" of the Designation of Matter, p. 2: 17-19; p. 4: 2-8, 19-24; p. 5: 5-15; p. 6: 16-25; p. 7: 1-10, 15-25; p. 8: 1-25; p. 9: 1-3; p. 11: 6-25; and p. 12: 1-17.]

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