ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Oconee County
Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2018-000637

RECEIVED

DEC 13 2018

SC Court of Appeals

John Dalen,

Appellant,

vs.

The State,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID R. WAGNER
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Oconee County
Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The magistrate had proper jurisdiction to consider the trial of Appellant for driving without a license. Further, the Uniform Traffic Ticket was a proper “charging instrument” and need not be supported by a separate warrant.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in proceeding to trial because neither the State nor the trial court proved jurisdiction on the record. He also contends the trial proceeded without a proper “charging instrument.” The magistrate had both subject matter jurisdiction and personal jurisdiction. Further, the Uniform Traffic Ticket (UTT) was a valid “charging instrument” for the crime of driving without a license. Accordingly, the magistrate properly proceeded to trial.

Issues relating to subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time. State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 100, 610 S.E.2d 494, 498 (2005). In Gentry, this Court clarified that a court’s subject matter jurisdiction is that court’s power “to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong.” Id.; see also, State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 422, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011).

In South Carolina, the General Assembly is constitutionally vested with the authority to establish the jurisdiction of the magistrate court. See S.C. Const. art. V, § 26 (“The General Assembly shall provide for [magistrates’] terms of office and their civil and criminal jurisdiction.”); see also Bayly v. State, 397 S.C. 290, 295, 724 S.E.2d 182, 184 (2012) (recognizing the legislature has the constitutional authority to establish the jurisdiction of magistrate court). The legislature has determined the exclusive jurisdiction of the magistrate court: “Magistrates shall have exclusive jurisdiction of all criminal cases in which the punishment does not exceed a fine of one hundred dollars or imprisonment for thirty days” S.C. Code Ann. § 22-3-540 (Supp. 2017). Further, the legislature has provided: “Magistrates

have jurisdiction of all offenses which may be subject to the penalties of a fine or forfeiture not exceeding five hundred dollars, or imprisonment not exceeding thirty days, or both.” S.C. Code Ann. § 22-3-550(A) (Supp. 2017). Additionally, Appellant was charged with driving without a license, which is covered by section 56-1-440 of the South Carolina Code. In pertinent part, the statute specifically grants jurisdiction to the summary courts, which includes the magistrate court: “The summary courts are vested with jurisdiction to hear and dispose of cases involving a violation of this section.” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-1-440(B) (Supp. 2017). As a result, the Magistrate Court of Oconee County had clear subject matter jurisdiction to consider Appellant’s trial for driving without a license.

Appellant also challenges the personal jurisdiction of the Magistrate Court of Oconee County to continue with his trial. “[I]t is generally recognized that jurisdiction over the person in a criminal case lies in the state or county where the crime was committed.” State v. Crocker, 366 S.C. 394, 402, 621 S.E.2d 890, 894 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing 4 Wayne R. LaFare et al., Criminal Procedure § 16.4(c) (2d ed. 1999)). The UTT clearly explains that the violation occurred within Oconee County, South Carolina. Here the UTT contains the requisite information to show personal jurisdiction over Appellant was proper to proceed.

Finally, the UTT is the proper “charging instrument” to being the proceedings in magistrate court. Once again, the legislature is necessarily vested with the authority to establish the procedures to be used in the exercise of magistrate court jurisdiction. See Bayly, 397 S.C. at 295, 724 S.E.2d at 184 (recognizing the legislature possesses the authority to establish the procedures of magistrate court). Pursuant to the procedures enacted by the legislature, a criminal case in magistrate court is typically commenced through the issuance of either an arrest warrant or a UTT, which provides notice to the defendant of the charge he is facing. See S.C. Code Ann.

§ 22-3-710 (“All proceedings before magistrates in criminal cases shall be commenced on information under oath, plainly and substantially setting forth the offense charged, upon which, and only which, shall a warrant of arrest issue.”); S.C. Code Ann. § 56-7-10(C) (Supp. 2017) (“The service of the uniform traffic ticket shall vest all traffic, recorders’, and magistrates’ courts with jurisdiction to hear and to dispose of the charge for which the ticket was issued and served.”). “The issuance of the uniform traffic ticket merely summons the accused person to appear before a magistrate, where he may submit any contention relative to the preservation of his rights.” State v. Biehl, 271 S.C. 201, 204, 246 S.E.2d 859, 860 (1978).

Pursuant to section 56-7-10 of the South Carolina Code, a UTT will be used by all law enforcement officers in arrests for traffic offenses. S.C. Code Ann. § 56-7-10(A) (Supp. 2017). The charge of driving without a license is clearly a traffic offense for which the issuance of a UTT is proper. As a result, a proper “charging instrument” was issued and the magistrate properly proceeded to trial.

II. The requirements of section 56-1-20 of the South Carolina Code are constitutional and applicable to all persons who seek to drive on the roadways of South Carolina.¹

Appellant maintains the trial court erred in ignoring the constitutional challenge to sections 56-1-20 and 56-1-440 of the South Carolina Code, in finding the statute requiring a driver's license applied to Appellant even though he is not a commercial driver, and failing to protect the constitutional rights of Appellant. The right to travel, as articulated by the United States Supreme Court, does not include the right to travel by any means without any restrictions. Further, the statutes involved clearly apply to all drivers and do not restrict their application to commercial drivers. Finally, the requirement of a driver's license under the statute does not impede Appellant's right to travel.

Appellant first seems to argue the statutes only apply to commercial vehicles, vehicles for hire, or vehicles involved in the transportation of goods or persons. A clear reading of the statutes demonstrates no such restriction. "The cardinal rule of statutory construction is a court must ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature." State v. Scott, 351 S.C. 584, 588, 571 S.E.2d 700, 702 (2002) (citing Charleston County Sch. Dist. v. State Budget and Control Bd., 313 S.C. 1, 437 S.E.2d 6 (1993)).

All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the maxim that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used. A statute's language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute. Whenever possible, legislative intent should be found in the plain language of the statute itself.

State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 561, 647 S.E.2d 144, 161 (2007) (internal citations omitted).

Several statutes are relevant to a determination of whether the driver's license requirement applies to Appellant or only to commercial drivers. Section 56-1-20 states in

¹ This issue addresses argument by Appellant found in both his Issue #1 and Issue #2.

pertinent part: “No person, except those expressly exempted² in this article shall drive any motor vehicle upon a highway in this State unless such person has a valid motor vehicle driver’s license issued to him under the provisions of this article.” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-1-20 (Supp. 2017). Based on its clear, unambiguous language, the statute applies to every person. “Person” is defined as “every natural person, firm, partnership, trust, company, firm, association, or corporation.” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-1-10(22) (Supp. 2017). Appellant certainly qualifies as a member of the class of “every natural person.” Additionally, section 56-1-440 states:

A person who drives a motor vehicle on a public highway of this State without a driver's license in violation of Section 56-1-20 is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction of a first offense, must be fined not less than fifty dollars nor more than one hundred dollars or imprisoned for thirty days and, upon conviction of a second offense, be fined five hundred dollars or imprisoned for forty-five days, or both, and for a third and subsequent offense must be imprisoned for not less than forty-five days nor more than six months.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-1-440 (Supp. 2017). Again, the provision applies to every person, and as discussed above it would apply to Appellant.

It is also significant to note that the statutory framework for motor vehicles includes an entirely separate Article related to the administration of South Carolina’s commercial driver’s license program. See 56-1-2005 through 56-1-2160 (Supp. 2017). It would be entirely superfluous for the state to have section 56-1-20 if it only related to a requirement to have a commercial driver’s license when the legislature has provided an entire separate framework under the South Carolina Commercial Driver License Act. Accordingly, section 56-1-20 and 56-1-440 clearly apply to Appellant, a natural person driving a motor vehicle on a public highway in South Carolina.

² None of the exemptions apply to Appellant. See S.C. Code Ann. § 56-1-30 (Supp. 2017).

Having determined the licensing requirement applies to Appellant, the question becomes does it infringe his right to travel. “ ‘[F]reedom to travel throughout the United States has long been recognized as a basic right under the Constitution.’ ” Dunn v. Blumstein, 405 U.S. 330, 338, (1972) (quoting United States v. Guest, 383 U.S. 745, 758 (1966)). Further, “the freedom to travel includes the ‘freedom to enter and abide in any State in the Union.’ ” Dunn, 405 U.S., at 338 (quoting Oregon v. Mitchell, 400 U.S. 112, 285 (1970)). “A state law implicates the right to travel when it actually deters such travel, when impeding travel is its primary objective, or when it uses any classification which serves to penalize the exercise of that right.” Attorney Gen. of New York v. Soto-Lopez, 476 U.S. 898, 903 (1986) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted).

The requirement of a driver’s license does not actually deter travel and certainly does not have as its primary objective impeding travel. Its clear primary objective is to provide for the safety of the state’s citizens on its roadways by requiring all persons to demonstrate and ability to properly operate a motor vehicle. See e.g., S.C. Code Ann. § 56-1-620 (Supp. 2017). Additionally, there is no classification system³ being used in South Carolina to obtain a driver’s license. As a result, the requirement of a driver’s license does not violate Appellant’s right to travel and any imposition is reasonably necessary in light of the stated purpose of providing for the safety of all drivers within South Carolina.

Appellant’s main argument appears to be the state’s requirement of a driver’s license impacts his freedom to drive and not his freedom to travel. As the Rhode Island Supreme Court explained:

³ The only classification required is that the person be of a certain age prior to obtaining their permit or license. See e.g., S.C. Code Ann. 56-1-40 (Supp. 2017).

[The] argument that the right to operate a motor vehicle is fundamental because of its relation to the fundamental right of interstate travel, is utterly frivolous. The plaintiff is not being prevented from traveling interstate by public transportation, by common carrier, or in a motor vehicle driven by someone with a license to drive it. What is at issue here is not his right to travel interstate, but his right to operate a motor vehicle on the public highways, and we have no hesitation in holding that this is not a fundamental right.

Berberian v. Petit, 374 A.2d 791, 794 (1977).

In the seminal case discussing whether the requirement of a driver's license impacts the right to travel, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals explained: "burdens on a single mode of transportation do not implicate the right to interstate travel." Miller v. Reed, 176 F.3d 1202, 1205 (9th Cir. 1999). The Court continued: "Miller does not have a fundamental "right to drive." Id. at 1206.⁴ The Court concluded: "the DMV did not unconstitutionally impede his right to interstate travel by denying him a driver's license."

This Court should find the right to drive is not a fundamental right and is not the same as the right to travel. Appellant wishes to be able to travel by the most convenient means for him, driving a vehicle, but he does not have a right to the most convenient method of transportation. Instead, he has a right to travel, which he could do by foot, bus, hired vehicle, or other means. The requirement of a driver's license promotes the safety of all persons on the highways of South Carolina and is a reasonable requirement placed upon those wishing to utilize the convenience of a motor vehicle.

⁴ The Fifth Circuit has rejected an argument that a person has "a constitutional right to the most convenient form of travel." City of Houston v. F. A. A., 679 F.2d 1184, 1198 (5th Cir. 1982). Appellant may want the convenience of being able to drive a vehicle, but he is not entitled to do so without the ability of the State to place reasonable burdens on him. A driver's license is certainly a reasonable burden.

III. The State need not prove Appellant was involved in “transportation” as that is not an element of the crime of driving without a license. The State proved the required elements showing Appellant violated section 56-1-20 of the South Carolina Code and was subject to the punishments found in 56-1-440 of the South Carolina Code.

Appellant contends the trial court violated his Due Process rights by not requiring the State to prove “the existence of ‘transportation’ as the primary element of any transportation related offense, as this invariably creates an unconstitutional rebuttable presumption of guilt of the primary essential element of any ‘criminal’ allegation involving ‘transportation.’” (App. Br. 23). The state proved the required elements of section 56-1-440 and “transportation” is not a required element.

As discussed in the issue above, Appellant need not be involved in any commercial endeavor in order for the State to require him to possess a valid driver’s license prior to operating a motor vehicle on the highways of this State. Accordingly, the State proceeded pursuant to section 56-1-20 and 56-1-440 of the South Carolina Code which require Appellant to have a driver’s license. The applicable statutes read:

“No person, except those expressly exempted⁵ in this article shall drive any motor vehicle upon a highway in this State unless such person has a valid motor vehicle driver’s license issued to him under the provisions of this article.”

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-1-20 (Supp. 2017). Section 56-1-440 states:

A person who drives a motor vehicle on a public highway of this State without a driver’s license in violation of Section 56-1-20 is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction of a first offense, must be fined not less than fifty dollars nor more than one hundred dollars or imprisoned for thirty days and, upon conviction of a second offense, be fined five hundred dollars or imprisoned for forty-five days, or both, and for a third and subsequent offense

⁵ None of the exemptions apply to Appellant. See S.C. Code Ann. § 56-1-30 (Supp. 2017).

must be imprisoned for not less than forty-five days nor more than six months.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-1-440 (Supp. 2017). As a result, the State must prove: 1) a person; 2) drove a motor vehicle; 3) on a public highway of this state; 4) without a driver's license. Appellant has not challenged these elements.⁶ He is clearly a person as discussed above. He was on a public highway in the State of South Carolina, and he has not contested the fact he does not possess a valid driver's license issued by this state. As a result, the State has met the elements required to convict Appellant of driving without a license.

⁶ See Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013) ("An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance."); State v. Sampson, 317 S.C. 423, 427, 454 S.E.2d 721, 723 (Ct. App. 1995) (holding that an unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case).

IV. The requirement of a driver's license does not violate Appellant's First Amendment right to free exercise of religion.

Appellant contends the trial court erred in not finding the requirement of a driver's license violates Appellant's religious freedom protections under the First Amendment of the United States Constitution. The requirement of a driver's license, or a social security number, does not violate the freedom of religious expression secured by the First Amendment.

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